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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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2007 2006 2007 2006

(Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Financial
Loss (15,379,974) (22,938,690) (23,379,000) (23,787,148)
Per share - basic and diluted (0.20) (0.33) (0.31) (0.44)
Funds from operations1 134,648 1,048,820 3,955,266 7,817,054 

Per share - basic 0.00 0.03 0.05 0.13 

Per share - diluted 0.00 0.03 0.05 0.12 

Debt (excluding convertible debentures) 17,391,760 19,184,717 17,391,760 19,184,717 

Operating costs per Boe 25.16 18.06 22.28 17.26 

Operating netbacks per Boe 21.73 21.48 17.43 19.99 

Market

Shares outstanding

End of period 83,698,042 73,642,173 83,698,042 73,642,173 

Weighted average - basic 76,295,862 70,154,281 74,419,541 62,033,289 

Weighted average - diluted 76,824,388 71,312,150 74,948,067 63,191,158 

Shares trading 

High 0.50 1.01 1.06 1.88 

Low 0.33 0.72 0.33 0.72 

Close 0.41 0.78 0.41 0.78 

Average daily volume 126,300 12,500 140,200 137,000 

Operations
Daily production (average)

Crude oil (bbl) 1,256 1,618 1,310 1,329 

NGLs (bbl) 42 43 45 55 

Natural gas (mcf) 2,318 1,930 2,124 2,124 

Total (Boe)2 1,685 1,982 1,709 1,760 

Realized commodity prices ($Cdn.)

Total crude oil (bbl) 63.60 47.06 54.14 50.19 

NGLs (bbl) 53.97 51.11 57.25 45.91 

Natural gas (mcf) 6.73 7.77 6.50 5.97 

Average (Boe)2 56.95 47.07 51.09 46.98 

Reference pricing

WTI Cushing ($US/bbl) 90.68 60.21 72.31 66.22 

AECO C daily spot ($Cdn./mcf) 6.15 6.99 6.45 6.54 

Foreign Exchange ($Cdn./$US) 0.98 1.14 1.07 1.13 

SUMMARY OF OPERATING & FINANCIAL RESULTS

1 Funds from operations before change in non-cash working capital is not a recognized measure under Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. Management uses funds from operations before change in non-cash working capital to analyze performance and considers it a key
measure as it demonstrates the Company’s ability to generate the cash necessary to fund future capital investments and to repay debt. Funds
from operations before change in non-cash working capital has been defined by the Company as net earnings (loss) plus the add back of non-
cash items (depletion, depreciation, and accretion, stock-based compensation, future income taxes and unrealized foreign exchange) and
excludes the change in non-cash working capital related to operating activities. Arsenal’s determination of funds from operations before change
in non-cash working capital may not be comparable to that reported by other companies. Arsenal also presents funds from operations before
change in non-cash working capital per share whereby amounts per share are calculated using weighted average shares outstanding consistent
with the calculation of earnings per share.

2 The term barrels of oil equivalent (“boe”) may be misleading, particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of six thousand cubic feet
per barrel (6mcf/bbl) of natural gas to barrels of oil equivalent is based on an energy equivalency conversion method primarily applicable at the
burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. All boe conversions in the report are derived from converting gas to oil
in the ratio mix of six thousand cubic feet of gas to one barrel of oil.
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

2007 was a year of retrenchment and reorganization for Arsenal Energy and the results are already showing.  Arsenal
has made a strategic decision to shift its focus from high-risk international exploration to regional exploration and
development in North America. The Company also moved to a more conservative financial model, reducing leverage on
its balance sheet.

HIGHLIGHTS
• Average production of 1709 Boe/d
• Yearend P+P reserves of 5.477 mmboe
• Yearend bank debt + debenture + working capital deficiency of $20,731,800
• 2007 F+D costs of $21.65/Boe on a proved basis and $10.43/Boe on a P+P basis
• Sold Tower Creek for $15.5 million
• Q4 drilling success at Evi/Galahad/Consort

PROFIT/LOSS
Arsenal had a net loss of $23,379,000 in 2007. Arsenal’s quarterly results have fluctuated significantly in the past
eight quarters due to one-time items such as ceiling test write-downs, adjustments arising from tax audits and
recognition of impairment of properties and goodwill. Moving forward these items will become less significant and
have a lesser impact, if any, on operations.

OPERATIONS IN REVIEW
A key change in Arsenal’s exploration strategy was a move away from promoted industry deals towards internally
generated grassroots plays. This strategy builds core properties and core competencies, which should deliver
competitive advantages and lower costs. As a result of the new strategy, the company has established three key plays
at Evi Alberta, East Central Alberta, and Stanley North Dakota.

EVI
Three successful wells were drilled at Evi during 2007. In addition, the Company completed a strategic acquisition that
included an oil battery and a substantial undeveloped land base covered by 3D seismic. Current production of
approximately 200 bbls/d net is expected to be tied into the battery in 2008 Q1, and Arsenal plans to drill two (.75 net)
wells during 2008 Q1. In addition, Arsenal has an additional 6 gross drill locations in inventory. The increasing
production combined with reduced operating costs resulting from the battery and pipelines should improve Arsenal’s
overall operating costs and netbacks.

EAST CENTRAL ALBERTA
The Lower Mannville sandstones of East Central Alberta offer attractive full cycle economics for small niche players
like Arsenal. Arsenal currently produces approximately 400 Boe/d of medium grade oil from three properties, and two
significant discoveries were made at Galahad and Consort late in 2007. 

The Galahad 100% WI well encountered a targeted new pool Ellerslie oil zone as well as an uphole Glauconite gas
zone. The gas zone has been completed and tie in operations are underway. Arsenal anticipates production of
1mmcf/d by the end of March.

At Consort, the company drilled a 100% WI Ellerslie medium gravity oil discovery. The well has been on production
for two months at 135 bbls/d of oil. Arsenal has proprietary 3D seismic over the discovery and has identified three
additional development locations. The development wells and the associated infrastructure are increases to
Arsenal’s 2008 capital program which Arsenal intends to fund from its recently announced private placement.

The Company has also developed plays on four other East Central Alberta properties. Arsenal has three drill ready
locations at Wildmere, two at Provost, two at Princess and four at Alderson. 
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STANLEY
Arsenal produces approximately 100 Boe/d of light oil from the Mississippian at Stanley. In addition, the Company
holds 1896 net acres of Bakken deep rights. Bakken drilling continues all around Arsenal’s land base, with production
results released to date varying from 100 bbls/d to 2000 bbls/d per well. The Company has budgeted three gross 
(0.5 net) Bakken wells for 2008.

EGYPT
The Company has retained Canaccord Capital to explore strategic alternatives for the company’s Egyptian concession.
The process should conclude sometime in the second quarter of 2008.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Arsenal’s production mix is dominated by heavy oil and low rate light oil. This mix yields higher BOE operating costs
relative to Arsenal’s peers. Over the medium term, production from new wells and disposition of small non-core
properties is expected to average down Arsenal’s operating expenses.

DEBT
In the second quarter of 2007 Arsenal made a strategic decision to adopt a more conservative financial model. 
The Company sold its Tower Creek property for $15.5 million and applied the proceeds against working capital. 
Over the medium term the Company will target a total debt plus working capital to cash flow ratio of one to one. The
anticipated improvement is expected to primarily be a result of increases in cash flow from increased production,
lighter crude oil and cost reductions.

COMMODITY PRICING
Arsenal is 85% weighted to oil production with approximately half of that being heavy oil. During 2007 the Company
realized a price of $51.09/Boe. Higher oil and gas prices as well as lower heavy differentials have increased March
2008 prices to approximately $85/Boe for Arsenal’s blend of production.

OUTLOOK
Higher oil prices and lower differentials should translate into much improved operating netbacks and cash flow in the
first quarter. The average production quality mix should also improve. The Company’s reorganization is nearing
completion and the status of our Egyptian assets should be known by the end of Q2. 

In February of 2008 R.K. Howard, VP Land, left Arsenal to pursue other interests. The Company thanks him for his
contribution. In March, G oa Taylor joined Arsenal as VP of Land. G oa brings 20 years of experience, most recently as
manager of land negotiations at Primewest Energy Trust. Also in March, Paul Lawrence agreed to join Arsenal as Chief
Financial Officer. Paul brings 30 years of industry experience, in both the public and private sectors.

Going forward, the Company’s capital requirements will be much more aligned with its cash flow. The Company has a
very promising exploration program underway for 2008, and over the longer term it is confident that its team can
continue to develop and grow its high return portfolio of projects.

PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE
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Tony van Winkoop
President and Chief Executive Officer
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AREAS OF OPERATION
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EVI/LUBICON The Evi/Lubicon area is located approximately 200 miles north of Edmonton. Evi is a multizone

hydrocarbon rich area containing high netback light oil from Devonian aged sediments.  In the 3rd quarter of 2007

Arsenal participated in the drilling of 3 wells resulting in 2 Granite Wash oil wells and 1 Slave Point oil well delivering

170 bbl/d of incremental net production. Early in the 4th quarter of 2007 Arsenal made a strategic asset acquisition

in the Evi area, resulting in 25 bbd/d net production, an Oil Battery and significant undeveloped acreage along with

multiple 3D seismic programs.  Thanks to the newly acquired 3D seismic information on the undeveloped property,

Arsenal has identified a number of new drilling opportunities and plans to drill an additional 2 to 4 gross wells in

2008 with an additional inventory of 3 well locations.

Evi/Lubicon Area

Oil Pools

Multizone Drilling Locations – Gilwood/Granite Wash/Slave Point Oil
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AREAS OF OPERATION
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GALAHAD The Galahad area is approximately 100km east of Red Deer.  Galahad is a 100% working interest property,

containing a company operated facility which was acquired in 2006 from Tiverton. Production in 2007 averaged 130

Boe/d of medium gravity oil. In 2007, Arsenal drilled 1 well resulting in an uphole gas well that tested in excess of 4

mmcf/d and will be brought on production at 1 mmcf/d. The discovery well also encountered a new pool accumulation

of oil in the targeted Ellerslie formation. Late in

the 3rd quarter of 2007, Arsenal entered into an

area farm-in agreement which will allow for future

drilling potential. Looking forward, Arsenal plans

to drill at least 2 Development wells in early 2008

along with shooting a proprietary 3D seismic

program on the farm-in option lands.

Galahad Area

Oil Pools

Drilling Locations – Ellerslie Sandstone

Consort Area

Oil Pools

Drilling Locations – Ellerslie Sandstones

CONSORT In late 2007 Arsenal drilled a successful discovery in the Consort area located approximately 100km west

of Provost. The well encountered a high deliverability Ellerslie sandstone that produced at an average of 175 bbl/d of

medium gravity oil. Subsequent to the initial discovery the company has been aggressively picking up land interests

and shooting proprietary 3D seismic in order to delineate the pool and position the company for future discoveries.

Arsenal anticipates significant growth in the Consort area and plans to drill 4 wells in 2008 (3 Development; 

1 Exploratory) as well as installing a 100% working interest surplus Oil Battery to reduce field operation expenses.
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AREAS OF OPERATION
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NORTH DAKOTA Arsenal’s most consistent low decline producing assets are its fields in North Dakota. Arsenal’s US

production averaged 380 Boe/d of light sweet oil in 2007 split between 6 fields, the largest of which are Lindahl,

Stanley and Rennie Lake. Since 2006 a large, very exciting, technologically driven play has emerged in the Williston

Basin Bakken formation. Due to the low permeability of the Bakken, past production had been very limited and

uneconomic. Recent developments in horizontal fracture technology have allowed for the rapid advancement of this

large resource play. Most of the recent activity has been surrounding Arsenal’s Stanley area where there are over

20 producing Bakken oil wells with stable production of over 6000 Boe/d. The oil is light, sweet and water-free.

Arsenal is in the process of actively pooling its land interests and anticipates drilling as many as 3 gross wells

before the end of 2008.

North Dakota Area

Viewfield
Discovered in 2004

9,000 BOPD
40 BOPD/well Sinclair

Rediscovered in 2003
10,000 BOPD
20 BOPD/well

Elm Coulee
Discovered in 1999

54,000 BOPD
124 BOPD/well

Parshall
Discovered in 2006

6,000 BOPD
305 BOPD/well
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AREAS OF OPERATION
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LLOYDMINSTER The Company has interests in a variety of heavy oil fields within a 40 mile radius of the city of

Lloydminster. The largest operations are at Maidstone Sask., Lashburn Sask. and Wildmere Alta. In 2007, Arsenal produced

an average of 700 Boe/d from its heavy oil properties. To optimize production Arsenal drilled 3 wells and performed a

number of successful well workovers in 2007. Arsenal also shot two 3D seismic programs (Wildmere and Provost) and has

identified over 10 development drilling opportunities, of which 5 are planned for the 3rd quarter of 2008.

The company plans to capitalize on the recent 40 percent surge in heavy oil prices. Arsenal anticipates short term

higher netbacks and will be evaluating smaller, expensive non-op properties for divestiture.

TOWER CREEK In the 3rd Quarter of 2007, Arsenal sold its interest in the Tower Creek area, which included the high

deliverability 2-21-55-27W5 well, to Delphi for total proceeds of $15.5 MM Cdn. The value of the sale was 100% of

Arsenal’s booked Proved plus Probable (P+P) reserve value. This divestiture allowed Arsenal to clean up its balance

sheet and fund other capital programs.

EGYPT In the early 2nd quarter of 2007, Arsenal participated in two Wildcat exploratory wells on its Nuqra concession

both of which were dry and abandoned (SET-1 and NARMER-1). Upon further internal evaluation, Arsenal decided to

enter into an agreement to market its Egyptian assets with Canaccord Capital.

OTHER Arsenal has approximately 180 Boe/d of other operated and non-operated production. The production is split

between good quality, long life sweet gas west of the fifth meridian and a mix of medium gravity oil and shallow

sweet gas west of the fourth meridian.
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Arsenal obtained an evaluation of its reserves at December 31, 2007, from AJM Petroleum Consultants (“AJM”) in a

report dated February 29, 2008. The Reserve Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting entirely of independent

directors, met with a representative of AJM to review the report in accordance with its mandate. The AJM report was

prepared in accordance with National Instrument 51-101, Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (“NI 51-101”).

This instrument adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators, sets out standards of disclosure for oil and gas

activities and mandates the application of evaluation standards defined in the Society of Petroleum Evaluation

Engineers (SPEE) Canadian Oil and Gas Evaluation Handbook (COGEH). The information that follows has been derived

from the AJM evaluation. Please refer to www.sedar.com for additional disclosures relating to the company’s reserves.

The estimates of reserves are subject to revisions as additional reservoir and performance information becomes

available, and contains judgments of future events for which actual results may vary materially from those disclosed.

The estimated future net revenues are adjusted for future abandonment costs and Saskatchewan Corporate Capital

Tax costs.

SUMMARY OF OIL AND GAS RESERVES AND NET PRESENT VALUES (as of December 31, 2007)

Crude Oil Natural Gas NGL Oil Equiv.
(mbbl) (mmcf) (mbbl) (mboe)

FORECAST PRICES AND COSTS

Marketable reserves

Proved producing 2,038 3,345 220 2,815

Proved developed non-producing 42 753 4 172

Proved undeveloped 185 688 22 321

Total proved 2,265 4,785 246 3,309

Probable additional 1,551 3,051 110 2,169

Total proved plus probable 3,815 7,837 356 5,477

Undisc. 5% 10% 15%

PRESENT VALUES BEFORE INCOME TAXES (000$)(CDN.)

Proved producing 87,160 64,740 53,364 46,403

Proved developed non-producing 4,718 3,993 3,445 3,019

Proved undeveloped 9,169 5,953 4,432 3,523

Total proved 101,047 74,686 61,242 52,945

Probable additional 80,856 40,005 26,340 19,746

Total proved plus probable 181,904 114,691 87,582 72,692
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RESERVES
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ARSENAL YEAR/YEAR NAV
31-Dec-06 31-Dec-07

P+P PV10  (MM$) 77.1 87.6

Land (56K net acres) 1.5 1.5

Seismic 0.3 0.8

Total Debt (MM$) -28.5 -20.7

NAV MM$ 50.4 69.2

Shares outstanding basic (MM) 73.3 83.7

NAV/Share  ($/share) 0.69 0.83

ARSENAL YEAREND 2007 RESERVE RECONCILIATION

TP (Mboe) 3,512 -293 -550 639 3,308

TP value (MM$) 55.8 -15.2 -11.9 32.5 61.2

P+P (Boe) 5,213 -667 -550 1,481 5,477

P+P value (MM$) 77.1 -15.2 -11.9 37.6 87.6

31-Dec-06 31-Dec-07
Acquired /

Sold
Adds /

RevisionsProduction
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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INTRODUCTION AND LIMITATIONS

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The following is management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Arsenal Energy Inc.’s (“Arsenal” or “the Company”)

audited operating and financial results for the year ended December 31, 2007.  This MD&A is dated March 24, 2008.

The financial data presented herein has in part been derived from the Company’s annual audited financial statements

prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and in accordance with

accounting policies as set out in Note 2 to the Company’s financial statements. The reporting and the measurement

currency is the Canadian dollar.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain information set forth in this document, including management’s assessment of Arsenal’s future plans and

operations, contains forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements are subject to

numerous risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the effect of general

economic conditions, industry conditions, volatility of commodity prices, currency fluctuations, imprecision of

reserve estimates, environmental risks, competition from other industry participants, the lack of availability of

qualified personnel or management, stock market volatility and ability to access sufficient capital from internal and

external sources. Readers are advised that the assumptions used in the preparation of such information, although

considered reasonable at the time of presentation, may prove to be imprecise and, as such, undue reliance should

not be placed on forward-looking statements. Arsenal’s actual results, performance or achievement could differ

materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. Arsenal disclaims any intention

or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future

events or otherwise.

BOE PRESENTATION

For the purpose of calculating unit costs, natural gas is converted to barrel of oil equivalent (“Boe”) using six

thousand cubic feet (“Mcf”) of natural gas to one barrel of oil unless otherwise stated. Boe may be misleading,

particularly if used in isolation. A Boe conversion ratio of six Mcf to one barrel (“Bbl”) is based on an energy

equivalency method primarily at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. (This

conversion conforms to National Instrument 51-101). References to natural gas liquids (“NGLs”) in this MD&A include

condensate, propane, butane and ethane and one barrel of NGLs is considered to be equivalent to one barrel of crude

oil equivalent (Boe).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASUREMENTS

Within the MD&A, references are made to terms having widespread use in the oil and gas industry in Canada. The

measures discussed are widely accepted measures of performance and value within the industry, and are used by

investors and analysts to compare and evaluate oil and gas exploration and producing entities. “Funds from

operations”, “funds from operations per share”, and “netbacks” are not defined by GAAP in Canada and are regarded

as non-GAAP measures. Measurement of funds from operations is detailed on the Statement of Cash flows

specifically; it is cash flow before the change in non-cash working capital. Funds from operations per share is

calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding consistent with the calculation of

net income per share. Netbacks equal total revenue less royalties, transportation and operating costs, calculated on

a Boe basis. Total Boe is calculated by multiplying the daily production by the number of days in the year or quarter

as the case may be.

THE COMPANY

Arsenal was incorporated under the laws of the province of Alberta. In late 2004 and early 2005, the Company

completed a series of corporate acquisitions that increased its exposure to heavy oil. In mid-2005, the Company

completed a corporate acquisition to gain exposure to an international play, acquiring assets in Egypt. In March 2006,

the Company acquired Tiverton Petroleums Ltd., increasing its domestic asset base and production.

During 2007, the Company commenced a significant fundamental change to its asset base and management structure

that has resulted in the Company focusing operations in a somewhat different direction than that of the past. The

Company in Canada has historically been a high cost heavy oil producer and in the US produces primarily light oil.

The Company generally has not concentrated its exploration and operational focus in any particular core area and

as a result, production comes from numerous prospect areas, with the largest producing approximately 11% of total

production. The Company operates in Canada, the US and has operations, but no production, in Egypt.

In June 2007, in order to strengthen its balance sheet, the Company sold its Tower Creek prospect, a low working

interest (14%) non-operated property for $15.5 million. The sale enabled the Company’s management to focus its

operational base on core project areas and to concentrate on operated higher working interest properties. It also

provided the opportunity to expand into areas that provide more upside and where management has more familiarity

and experience. The sale provided the Company with significant financial flexibility going forward. 

In 2008, the Company intends to continue its focus on rationalizing its asset base and explore in areas that will

provide a longer life reserve base. In addition, the Company will focus on reducing field operating costs in Canada

and the US and determine how to capitalize on its high impact Bakken targets in North Dakota, US.

The Company has two active subsidiaries, Arsenal Energy USA Inc. a company that holds the Company’s US assets,

and Quadra Energy Ltd., a company that holds the Company’s Egyptian assets.

Arsenal Energy Inc.’s common shares are listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the

symbol “AEI” and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol “A1E”.
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL RESULTS

PRODUCTION AND REVENUE

Average Daily Production

The Company has production in the provinces of Alberta and Saskatchewan in Canada (77% of total production) and

in the state of North Dakota in the US (23% of total production).

Production for the fourth quarter of 2007 decreased 15% to 1,685 Boe/d from 1,982 Boe/d in the fourth quarter of

2006. This decrease in production was due to normal production declines, funds not being available for remedial work

on wells and low drilling activity in the first half of 2007. 

Production for the current year declined 3% in 2007 to average 1,709 Boe/d versus 1,760 Boe/d in 2006.  Given that

the Tiverton acquisition closed late in the first quarter of 2006, the production decline was, in fact slightly higher.

Natural declines account for a large portion of the actual decline. The Company produces from approximately 317

wells, 258 in Canada and 59 in the US. Approximately 77% (1,312 Boe/d) of the Company’s production comes from the

Canadian operation with the US contributing the remaining 23% (397 Boe/d). The impact of late 2007 and early 2008

drilling is expected to increase production in Canada in 2008.

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

(Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Crude oil (bbl/d) 1,256 1,618 1,329 ((22) 1,310 1,329 (1) 

NGL (bbl/d) 42 43 55(2) (2) 45 55 (18) 

Natural gas (mcf/d) 2,318 1,930 2,255 20 2,124 2,255 (6) 

Total (Boe/d) 1,685 1,982 1,7(60(15) 1,709 1,760 (3) 

Production split
Oil & NGLs 77% 84% (8) 79% 79% 1

Natural Gas 23% 16% 41 21% 21% (3) 

Production Profile and Per Unit Prices

The Company’s production base in Canada is primarily heavy oil (66% of total oil production and 51% of total

Canadian production) and has not changed significantly year over year. The US production is 81% crude oil. Crude oil

is sold under 30-day evergreen contracts while natural gas production is sold in the spot market.
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2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Prices – Before Derivatives
Total crude oil (bbl) 63.60 47.06 35 54.14 50.19 8

NGLs (bbl) 53.97 51.11 6 57.25 45.91 25

Natural gas (mcf) 6.73 7.77 (13) 6.50 5.97 9

Total (Boe) 56.95 47.07 21 51.09 46.98 9

Reference Pricing
WTI Cushing ($U.S./bbl) 90.68 60.21 51 72.31 66.22 9

Oil Edmonton Light ($Cdn./bbl) 76.35 72.77 5 86.42 64.49 34

Heavy Oil Lloyd blend ($Cdn./bbl) 55.49 43.84 27 51.63 50.07 3 

AECO C daily spot ($Cdn./mcf) 6.15 6.99 (12) 6.45 6.54 (1) 

NYMEX gas ($U.S./mmbtu) 6.98 6.75 3 7.01 6.69 5

Foreign exchange ($Cdn./$U.S.) 0.98 1.14 (14) 1.07 1.13 (5)

Average Boe prices increased in Q4 2007 versus Q4 2006 21% with the price of crude oil increasing 35% and the price

of gas decreasing 13%. The prices received by the Company reflected the market movement of these commodities.

In 2007, the Company realized slightly increased prices on all of its commodities. A part of this increase is due to the

2007 increase in the average price of West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”). In 2007, WTI increased 9% to an average of

$72.31 US ($77.37 Cdn) per barrel versus $66.22 US ($74.94 Cdn) per barrel in 2006. Because of the strengthening of

the Canadian dollar, the Canadian price increase was only 3%. In spite of a slight decrease in the AECO C daily index

gas price from $6.54 per mcf in 2006 to $6.45 per mcf in 2007 the price the Company received increased 9%. 

Production by Area

2007 2006 

AREA (Year Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Canada Boe’s % of Total Boe’s % of Total % Change
Maidstone 192 11% 238 14% -19%

Galahad 149 9% 127 7% 17%

Wildmere 130 8% 145 8% -10%

Evi 121 7% 74 4% 64%

Others 720 42% 759 43% -5%

Total Canada 1,312 1,343 -2%

US
Stanley 119 7% 118 7% 1%

Lindahl 71 4% 75 4% -5%

Tioga 51 3% 57 3% -11% 

Others 156 9% 167 9% -7%

Total US 397 417 -5%

Total Boe production 1,709 100% 1,760 100% -3%
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Production Revenue

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year December 31)

Crude oil sales 7,350,832 6,927,332 6 25,894,225 25,697,802 1 

NGL sales 333,060 201,806 65 935,894 926,794 1

Natural gas sales 1,143,991 1,364,167 (16) 5,043,150 4,263,966 18  

Loss on forward contracts - (32,685) (100) - (1,280,711) (100)

8,827,883 8,460,620 4 31,873,269 29,607,851 8 

Other (469,309) 845,509 (156) 515,782 1,212,883 (57)

Oil and gas revenue 8,358,574 9,306,129 (10) 32,389,051 30,820,734 5

Per Boe 53.92 51.02 6 51.92 47.97 8  

Crude revenue for the fourth quarter of 2007 increased 6% to 7,350,832 versus the fourth quarter of 2006 offsetting

a 16% decline in revenue received from gas sales. Overall oil and gas revenues increased 4% based on increased

crude prices. 

In 2007, despite a slight decline in average production of 3%, total oil and gas revenues increased from $29,607,851

in 2006 to $31,873,269 in 2007 due to a 9% increase in the average Boe selling price. The average price received for

the Company’s crude oil increased 8% to $54.14 per barrel while the average price received for natural gas increased

9% to $6.50 per mcf. 

While crude prices have been very strong so far in 2008, the economic conditions in North America and worldwide

will be a major factor as to whether or not this strength continues. In addition, it seems that oil prices are becoming

less sensitive to market economics and more reflecting global politics.

The Company has taken advantage of the strong prices and has put in place a financial hedge covering 200 barrels

of oil per day for the period March 1, 2008 to December 31, 2009 at $97.55 Canadian per barrel. As the Company’s oil

production is primarily heavy crude, the differentials are still a big factor affecting the netbacks.

Natural gas prices are influenced by a number of factors outside of the Company’s and industry control. Gas storage,

imports of liquefied natural gas and the increased value of the Canadian dollar versus the US dollar are some of the

factors affecting the price. Recently prices for natural gas have improved but 2008 is still expected to be unstable.

Royalties

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Royalties 1,559,841 2,094,647 (26) 7,096,807 6,885,863 3    

% of gross oil and gas revenue 18 23 (23) 22 22 -    

Per Boe 10.06 11.48 (12) 11.38 10.72 6  
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During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company received a Crown gas royalty adjustment that related to 2007 and

reduced royalties. This adjustment reduced Crown charges in the quarter from 9% for the period to September 30,

2007 to 6% for the current quarter and reduced 2007 Crown charges to 8%. The royalty rate per Boe went from 

$11.48 per Boe in Q4 2006 to $10.06 per Boe in Q4 2007.

In 2007, royalties totaled $7,096,807 versus $6,885,863 in 2006. For both years, total royalties averaged 22% of oil

and gas sales. On a Boe basis however, royalties in 2007 were $11.38 per Boe versus 10.72 per Boe in 2006. This

increase reflects a one-time adjustment to royalties that related to a prior period that offset the Q4 2007 reduction

in royalties.

On October 25, 2007, the Government of Alberta released its New Royalty Framework (“NRF”) for the province which

is proposed to take effect on January 1, 2009. The proposed NRF changes the royalty structure in Alberta to provide

for significantly increased royalties on higher productivity wells with a rapid escalation in royalties as commodity

prices increase.

A recent analysis of the effect of the proposed NFR on the Company, prepared by the Company’s independent

engineers, determined operating funds flow and reserve values would have no effect on the total proved reserves

and a reduction of approximately 3% on the total proved plus probable additional reserves. 

The Company’s proposed exploration and development activities in Alberta will most certainly be affected by the

proposed NRF and the economics of projects in Alberta are being continually reviewed.

Operating costs

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Operating expense 3,900,127 3,293,656 18 13,897,532 11,088,038 25 

Per Boe 25.16 18.06 39 22.28 17.26 29 

On a Boe basis, operating costs in 2007 were $22.28 per Boe versus $17.26 per Boe in 2006.  The oil operating costs

in Canada are high simply due to the high cost to operate the properties, particularly the oil wells which are almost

all single well batteries. This results in high costs for propane, trucking of oil, water and emulsion and maintenance

and repairs. In addition, 2007 operating costs increased as a consequence of an extensive restart program on heavy

oil operations which added one-time expenses and in 2007, the Company incurred a one-time charge incurred for the

reconciliation of non-operated processing fees paid to joint interest partners.

The Company has reviewed and is continuing to review and implement initiatives to bring these costs to a more

acceptable level. This may include the sale or purchase of some properties. In late 2007, the Company completed a

property transaction at Evi, a core area that included a 30% working interest in a battery. This acquisition is expected

to eliminate processing and trucking charges on existing and future production. In addition, the Company is

examining its field operations and equipment specifications to maximize production and lower costs. 
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Operating netback

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN PER BOE) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Net revenue after derivatives 56.95 51.02 12 51.09 47.97 7

Royalties (10.06) (11.48) (12) (11.38) (10.72) 6

Operating expenses (25.16) (18.06) 39 (22.28) (17.26) 29

Operating netback 21.73 21.48 1 17.43 19.99 (13)

The operating netback realized during the fourth quarter of 2007 and 2006 were $21.73 per Boe and $21.48 per Boe.

The increased crude price in Q4 2007 was offset by higher operating costs.

The operating netbacks for 2007 declined 13% to $17.43 per Boe versus $19.99 per Boe in 2006. Increased oil prices

were offset by higher per Boe operating costs. Operating netbacks should increase in 2008 due to higher commodity

prices and as the Company’s initiatives to reduce operating costs take effect.

General and administrative

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

General and administrative 1,751,088 607,160 188 4,543,547 3,283,768 38 

General and administrative per Boe 11.30 3.33 239 7.28 5.11 42 

General and administrative costs increased 188% during the fourth quarter of 2007 to $1,751,088 compared to

$607,160 in 2006. This increase is attributed to the recording of a provision for doubtful accounts, higher fees for

engineering and financial consulting, increased audit fees, higher fees relating to the Company’s current credit

facility, penalty fees for breach of banking covenants and fees related to investigating borrowing alternatives. On a

Boe basis, costs increased in the fourth quarter of 2007 to $11.30 from $3.33 in the comparable 2006 quarter.

General and administrative costs increased 38% to $4,543,547 or $7.28 per Boe in 2007 from $3,283,768 or $5.11 per

Boe in 2006. Factors contributing to this increase are the provision for doubtful accounts, high fees incurred for legal

services and audit fees, higher engineering and accounting consulting fees, fees for exploring financing alternatives

and severance paid to prior management. In addition, the Company began on July 1, 2007 to expense all general and

administrative costs related to its operations in Egypt. In 2007, the company capitalized $689,002 (2006 - $564,723)

of overhead directly related to exploration and development.

Interest expense

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Interest expense 1,821,552 288,066 532 2,941,047 1,123,465 162

Per Boe 11.75 1.58 644 4.71 1.75 170 
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Interest is paid on the Company’s revolving demand loan at prime plus 0.40% as net debt to trailing cash flow (cash

flow for the last quarter annualized) exceeded 1.25:1(see Bank Debt, Liquidity and Capital Resources - Demand

Operating Loan Facility). The facility averaged approximately $19.0 million during the first quarter of 2007, $17.1 million

for the second quarter of 2007, $7.8 million, for the third quarter of 2007 and $9.1 million for the fourth quarter of

2007. The reduction in the balance during the last half of the year was due to the sale in late June of Tower Creek for

$15.5 million. Also included under interest expense are charges related to the Part XII.6 tax associated with the issue

of flow-through shares.  

The Company recorded a number of one-time fees and expenses charges during the fourth quarter of 2007 that

increased interest expenses for the quarter to $1,821,552 from $288,066 in the fourth quarter of 2006. These expenses

are outlined below.

In early 2008, as a result of an audit conducted in late 2007 on the 2003, 2004 and 2005 flow-through share offerings

of a previously acquired company, the Company received a letter from Canada Revenue Agency (“CRA”) proposing to

adjust the Company’s interpretation of Canadian Exploration Expense (“CEE”) incurred pursuant to these flow-

through share offerings (“Qualifying Expenditures”). The letter proposes to reduce the amount claimed as Qualifying

Expenditures and to reassess the Part XII.6 tax due under the look-back rule. As a result of the reduction in Qualifying

Expenditures and the indemnity given by the acquired company in the various subscription agreements, the

Company may be liable for the income tax assessed the subscribers for the shortfall.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company has recorded, in addition to amounts previously recorded for Part XII.6 tax,

a payable to CRA in the amount of $424,061 representing the increase in Part XII.6 tax resulting from the CRA audit with

the offset increasing interest expenses. In addition, as a result of the shortfall in Qualifying Expenditures, the Company

has recorded a payable of $1,300,000 to subscribers of the offerings representing the potential tax due to the

subscribers under the Company’s indemnity. The offset has been recorded as interest expense.

As a result of these expenses and interest on the Company’s line of credit, interest expense for the year increased from

$1,123,465 in 2006 to $2,941,047 in 2007. During 2007, $959,818 was paid on the Company’s line of credit, $278,400 relates

to interest on the debentures, $681,229 relates to the Part XII.6 resulting from the CRA tax audit and the Part XII.6 tax

due for the Company’s 2006 flow-through share offering and $1,300,000 relates to the subscribers tax indemnity. 

Interest on Convertible Debentures

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Interest on convertible debentures 70,172 70,000 0 278,400 208,256 34 

Per Boe 0.45 0.38 18 0.45 0.32 38 

The Company pays interest at 8% per annum on the $3,480,000 of convertible debentures acquired in the Tiverton

acquisition. Interest is paid semi-annually on June 30 and December 31 and totaled $278,400 for 2007 of which,

$70,172 was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2007. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded $76,567 of accretion expense relating to the

amortization of the discount of the debenture, and paid $278,400 in interest on the debentures in 2007 (see

“Convertible Debentures” below). 

Depletion Depreciation and Accretion

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Depletion, depreciation and accretion 3,354,382 4,730,664 (29) 16,756,827 13,859,196 21

Per Boe 21.64 25.93 (17) 26.86 21.57 25  

Depletion of petroleum and natural gas properties and depreciation of production equipment is provided for using

the unit-of-production method based on the Company’s share of proven petroleum and natural gas reserves before

royalties as determined by independent engineers and updated internally for interim periods. Petroleum and natural

gas reserves are converted to equivalent barrels of oil using a ratio of six thousand cubic feet of natural gas to one

barrel of oil. Costs of acquiring and evaluating unproved properties are initially excluded from the depletion

calculations. Other miscellaneous assets are depreciated over their estimated useful life.

Depletion for the current quarter totaled $3,354,382 or $21.64 per Boe versus $4,730,664 or $25.93 per Boe in 2006.

The current quarter decrease over Q4 2006 relates to the sale in June 2007 of Tower Creek and an increase in 2007

year-end reserves.

Total depletion, depreciation and accretion expense for the year amounted to $16,756,827 versus $13,859,196 recorded

in 2006. Depletion and depreciation of oil and gas assets totaled $16,455,950 (2006 - $13,751,196) and depreciation on

other assets and accretion totaling $300,877 (2006 - $108,000). On a BOE basis, depletion, depreciation and accretion

expense for 2007 was $26.86 per Boe versus $21.57 per Boe for 2006.

Ceiling Test and Property Impairment

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Ceiling test and property impairment 2,370,218 13,811,366 100 12,465,675 13,811,366 100 

Per Boe 15.29 75.71 100 19.98 21.50 100 

The Company applies a two-stage ceiling test to capitalized costs to ensure that such costs do not exceed the

undiscounted future net revenues from the production of proved reserves. Undiscounted future net revenues are

calculated based on an independent petroleum engineer’s best estimate of forward indexed prices applied to

estimated future production of proved reserves plus anticipated proceeds from the sale of undeveloped properties,

less estimated future operating costs, royalties, future capital development costs and abandonment costs. When the

carrying amount of a cost centre is not recoverable, the second stage of the process will determine the impairment

amount, whereby the carrying value of the cost centre would be written down to its fair value. The second stage of

the calculation requires a comparison between the carrying and the discounted future net revenues from proved plus

probable reserves using the Company’s risk free interest rate plus the cost of undeveloped land, net of impairment. 
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The fair value is estimated using accepted present value techniques, which incorporate risks and other uncertainties

when determining expected net revenues. In applying the ceiling test at the end of the second quarter of 2007, it was

determined that a ceiling test write down of $3,249,288 (Q4 2006 – $13,811,366) was required. For the six month period

ending June 30, 2007, the Company received an average of $6.52 per mcf for gas and $50.32 for crude oil. The WTI

averaged price for the period was $61.59 US. The prices assumed in the reserve report dated December 31, 2006 were

$7.40 for AECO gas, $65.00 for WTI and $40.35 for 12 degree Hardisty oil.

The costs of acquiring and evaluating the Egyptian concession were included in an Egyptian full cost capital asset pool

at December 31, 2006. During 2007, in accordance with GAAP, the Company evaluated the Egyptian concession and

related costs to acquire and evaluate the property and determined that based on drilling results, impairment had

occurred. Accordingly, impairment of the assets was recorded at December 31, 2007 and it was determined that the

Company would no longer commit funds to the project and would attempt to sell the Egyptian concession and all related

assets. As a result, the Company recognized total impairment in 2007 related to the acquisition and evaluation of the

Egyptian assets of $9,216,387 ($2,370,218 was recognized in the fourth quarter of 2007). 

Goodwill

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Goodwill impairment -   13,655,782 100 4,791,561 13,655,782 100 

Per Boe -   74.86 100 7.68 21.25 100 

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the fair value

of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business. Goodwill is stated at cost and is not amortized.

The goodwill balance is assessed for impairment each year end or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. The test for impairment is conducted by comparing the book

value to the fair value of the reporting entity, impairment is charged to income in the period it occurs.

During 2007 and 2006, the Company compared the deemed fair value of goodwill to the carrying value of goodwill.

As a result of this test, the Company wrote off $4,791,561 in goodwill in 2007, resulting in a $nil balance in goodwill as

at December 31, 2007.

Stock-based Compensation

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Compensation expense (34,731) 519,594 (107) 704,811 1,398,395 (50)

Per Boe (0.22) 2.85 (108) 1.13 2.18 (48) 

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation program using the fair-value method. Under this method,

compensation expense related to this program is recorded in the statement of operations over the vesting period of

the options.
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During August 2007, there were 995,000 options granted to directors, officers and employees. These options vest

over eighteen months. Also in 2007, 1,690,000 options previously granted expired and 73,333 options priced at $0.20

were exercised.

Stock-based compensation for 2007 totalled $704,811 versus $1,398,395 in 2006. Stock-based compensation expense

per Boe for the year ended December 31, 2007 totalled $1.13 per Boe versus $2.18 per Boe in 2006. The 2007 decrease

reflects the lower number of options vesting during the period, the expiry of options held by employees that left the

Company and the full vesting of some options previously granted. 

Taxes

During 2007, the Company recorded taxes payable on its US operations of $272,262 (2006 - $126,758). At current

commodity prices, the Company expects to be taxable in the US in 2008 and is currently looking at options to reduce

the amount of tax paid.

In Canada, during the three month period ended December 31, 2007, the Company reduced future income taxes by a

further $2,666,575 for a total recovery for the year of $7,443,926 versus $7,889,011 in 2006. Arsenal does not expect

to pay current tax in 2008 based on existing tax pools, planned expenditures and current commodity prices.

A future income tax balance of $3,621,900 is recorded as a liability as at December 31, 2007.

OUTLOOK

Crude oil prices have been surging lately in response to high demand in China and other emerging markets. While it

may be unrealistic to assume this level of strength will continue given the economic slowdown in the US and other

economic factors, the Company expects that 2008 average prices will exceed those realized in 2007. With

approximately 75% of Arsenal’s production crude based, the Company is well positioned to prosper in this higher

priced environment.

Natural gas prices have also rallied in the past month or so as inventories are reduced due to cold eastern weather

and due to the expectation that storage numbers may not build as high due to reduced activity levels in 2007. These

factors have contributed to a sense that the industry will see stronger gas prices in 2008 than in 2007. While Arsenal

may not be focused on natural gas, it will benefit from this price increase, which will allow the Company to increase

its exploration budget as the cash flow materializes.

Capital expenditures for 2008 are expected to total $14.1 million with the Company participating in approximately 

2007 2006 % Change 2007 2006 % Change

($CDN) (Three Months Ended December 31) (Year Ended December 31)

Current income taxes (253,298) 342,090 (174) 272,262 126,758 115

Future income taxes (reduction) (2,666,575) (148,873) 1691 (7,443,926) (7,889,011) (6) 

(2,919,873) 193,217 (1,611) (7,171,664) (7,762,253) (8)

Per Boe (18.84) 1.06 (1,879) (11.50) (12.08) (5)
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19 gross (12.2 net) wells. Of the 19 gross wells expected to be drilled, 14 (9.9 net) are development wells and 5 (3.1 net)

are exploratory wells. All 19 gross well are targeting oil. The capital expenditure program is more heavily weighted to

the first and third quarters. Arsenal expects to drill 17 gross wells in Canada and 2 gross wells in the US. 

At December 31, 2007, Arsenal had total debt and working capital deficiency (excluding the convertible debentures of

$3.3 million) of $17.4 million on a $17.25 million bank facility. The first quarter capital program is expected to expend

between $3.5 to $4.5 million and be funded by Arsenal’s first quarter cash flow and its flow-through share offerings

in 2007 and in 2008. The remainder of the program is expected to be funded by funds from operations and by the

Company’s available credit facility.

The program is expected to result in Arsenal averaging approximately 2,000 Boe per day in 2008, an increase of 17%

over 2007 average production. Debt and working capital deficiency (excluding the convertible debentures of $3.5

million) at December 31, 2008 is projected to be between $12.5 and $13.5 million. The Company expects the 2008

program to improve the Company’s liquidity and expects to exit 2008 with its total debt within its approved credit

facility and its debt to cash flow ratio greatly improved.

Summary of Annual Results

2007 2006 2005

($CDN) (Year Ended December 31)

Total revenue 32,389,051 30,820,734 18,737,666 

Net (loss) (23,379,000) (27,056,421) (1,100,424)

Per share - basic and diluted (0.31) (0.44) (0.04)

Funds from operations 3,955,266 7,817,054 4,242,029 

Per share - basic and diluted - 0.13 0.15 

Total assets 65,097,402 95,462,544 54,157,383 

Debt (excluding convertible debentures) 17,391,760 19,184,717 4,277,845 

Summary of Quarterly Results

2007 2006

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Total revenue 8,358,474 7,420,832 8,226,026 8,383,719 9,306,129 8,393,468 7,839,810 5,281,327 

Net income (loss) (2,944,193) (3,029,332) (9,406,449) (7,999,026) (25,795,319) (1,200,629) 787,985 (848,458)

Per share - basic (0.04) (0.04) (0.13) (0.11) (0.37) (0.02) 0.01 (0.02)

Per share - diluted (0.04) (0.04) (0.13) (0.11) (0.37) (0.02) 0.01 (0.02)

Funds from operations 134,648 900,028 1,078,581 1,842,009 2,685,843 2,006,566 2,167,425 957,218 

Per share - basic 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.03 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.02 

Per share - diluted 0.00 0.01 0.01 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.04 0.02 

Total assets 65,097,402 62,288,632 63,745,799 86,839,591 95,462,544 122,327,380 118,007,389 112,189,351

Total debt 17,391,760 14,128,455 10,628,558 20,341,897 19,184,717 20,535,965 17,082,893 11,554,616 

Shares outstanding 83,698,042 73,917,173 73,917,173 73,642,173 73,317,173 65,352,403 65,311,501 65,203,875

Arsenal’s quarterly results have fluctuated significantly in the past eight quarters due to one-time items like tax

($CDN)
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audits, ceiling test write-downs and recognition of impairment of properties and goodwill. Moving forward, it is

expected that these items will become less significant and have a lesser impact, if any, on operations. While quarterly

results will fluctuate somewhat quarter over quarter due to commodity prices, especially due to the differentials in

heavy oil, the Company does maintain a fairly straight production rate and has reasonably flat and predictable

operating, general and administrative and interest expenses. 

Summary of Annual Results by Country

($CDN) Canada United States Egypt Corporate Total Company

Revenues
Oil and gas revenues 23,109,013 9,280,038 -   -   32,389,051 

Royalties (3,833,570) (3,263,237) -   -   (7,096,807)

19,275,443 6,016,801 -   -   25,292,244 

Expenses
Operating 11,444,540 2,452,992 -   -   13,897,532 

General and administrative -   -   -   4,543,547 4,543,547 

Interest expense -   -   -   2,941,047 2,941,047 

Foreign exchange -   24,638 (637,697) -   (613,059)

Convertible debenture interest -   -   -   278,400 278,400 

Convertible debenture accretion 76,567 76,567 

Depletion, depreciation, and accretion 16,104,460 652,367 -   -   16,756,827 

Property, plant and equipment impairment 3,249,288 -   9,216,387 -   12,465,675 

Goodwill impairment 4,791,561 -   -   -   4,791,561 

Stock-based compensation -   - 704,811 704,811

35,589,849 3,129,997 8,578,690 8,544,372 55,842,908

Income (loss) before income taxes (16,314,406) 2,886,804 (8,578,690) (8,544,372) (30,550,664)

Income taxes

Current income taxes - 272,262 -   -   272,262  

Future income taxes (reduction) (7,443,926) -   -   -   (7,443,926)

(7,443,926) 272,262 -   -   (7,171,664)

Net income (loss) (8,870,480) 2,614,542 (8,578,690) (8,544,372) (23,379,000)

Production
Crude oil (bbl/d) 989 321 1,310 

NGL (bbl/d) 12 33 45  

Natural gas (mcf/d) 1,866 258 2,124 

Total (Boe/d) 1,312 397 1,709  

Production Split
Oil & NGLs 76% 89% 79%  

Natural Gas 24% 11% 21% 

Prices - $ Cdn
Total crude oil (bbl) 49.44 68.59 54.14

NGLs (bbl) 67.19 53.47 57.25  

Natural gas (mcf) 6.54 6.28 6.50

Total (Boe) 47.19 64.00 51.09 
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BANK DEBT, LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Demand Operating Loan Facility

At December 31, 2007, the Company has available a demand operating loan facility in the amount of $17,250,000,

decreased from $23,000,000 at December 31, 2006. Debt, including working capital deficiency but excluding the

convertible debenture, amounted to $17,391,760 at December 31, 2007 resulting in a debt to funds from operations for

2007 of 4.4 times compared to 2.5 in 2006. The increase in 2007 was the result of a number of one-time charges

described above. Management anticipates that this ratio will decrease to a more acceptable level as a result of the

2008 drilling program.

The facility can be utilized in either Canadian or US dollars, bears interest at Canadian or US bank prime plus 0.25%,

increasing to Canadian or US bank prime plus 0.40% if net debt to trailing cash flow (cash flow for the last quarter

annualized) exceeds 1.25:1. The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge debenture providing a fixed charge

over all present and after acquired petroleum and natural gas interests and a floating charge over all lands and a

continuing guarantee from the Company’s US subsidiary in the form of a Mortgage Security Agreement and Letter of

Undertaking limited to $8,000,000. 

At December 31, 2007, the Company was in a breach of two covenants under its loan agreement. The Company was in

breach under the working capital covenant of no less than 1 : 1 and the net debt to trailing cash flow covenant. The

bank has waived these defaults at December 31, 2007 conditional on the Company being in compliance as of March 31, 2008.

Convertible Debenture

The Company, as part of the Tiverton acquisition in 2006, assumed the obligations under $3,480,000 face value of

convertible debentures. The convertible debentures are a debt security with an embedded conversion option and

were segregated into a debt and equity component based on the respective fair value of each at the date of

acquisition.  The  equity component, calculated at $370,000, represents the holder’s conversion right and was

included in Shareholders’ Equity. The remaining balance being $3,110,000 was classified as debt and is being accreted

over the remaining period to maturity. 

Interest accrues on the debentures at 8% payable semi-annually on June 30th and December 31st of each year.  The

debentures will mature on February 15, 2009 unless called for redemption earlier by Arsenal.  The debentures are

convertible by the holders at any time prior to maturity into 1,539,170 shares of the Company, representing a

conversion price of $2.26 per Arsenal share.  

The Company can elect to prepay the debenture providing the Company’s shares trade above $2.60 per share for 22

consecutive days. If the holder exercises the conversion right, they will receive accrued and unpaid interest up to and

including the conversion date. 

It is expected that the Company will repay the convertible debentures on February 15, 2009 from funds available on

its then current line of credit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Liquidity

Year Ended December 31, 2007

($CDN)

Sources
Funds from operations 3,955,266 

Issue of shares 4,174,240 

Exercise of options 14,667 

Proceeds on sale of property 15,491,355 

Change in non-cash working capital - operating items 8,138,366 

Change in non-cash working capital - financing items 55,000 

Change in non-cash working capital - investing items 1,165,765  

Total sources of cash 32,994,659 

Uses
Plant, property and equipment additions (20,823,716)

Purchase of property (575,000)

Share issue costs (443,855) 

Total uses of cash (21,842,571)

DDeeccrreeaassee  iinn  bbaannkk  ddeebbtt 1111,,115522,,008888

The Company has three primary sources of funding to finance its capital expenditure program, being internally

generated cash flow from operations, bank debt and new equity issues. Occasionally when conditions warrant, the

Company may elect to sell a non core property to fund additional capital expenditures.

The Company funds development capital from cash flow and bank borrowings. Exploration capital is generally funded

from equity and if required, property dispositions. For most junior exploration and development companies, capital

expenditures generally exceed cash flow and bank lines of credit. The Company therefore relies on equity and in

particular flow-through share financing, for exploration. 

The Company believes that with its current banking facilities, funds flow from operations and the issuance of

additional equity, it will have the financial resources necessary to complete its proposed $14.1 million capital program.

In the event that commodity prices, interest or exchange rates, or other factors negatively impact funds flow from

operations, or the Company is unable to raise the required equity funds, the Company would plan to reduce the

proposed capital program so that the Company's debt remains within its existing banking facilities.

In order to ensure that funds are available for its 2008 capital program, the Company raised $4,174,240 of flow-

through funds in late 2007 and is utilizing these funds for its Q1 2008 exploration program and in March 2008,

announced another offering of flow-through shares in an attempt to raise additional funds for exploration

throughout 2008. In February 2008, in an attempt to solidify a portion of the Company’s cash flow projection, the

Company sold forward 200 barrels of oil per day for the period March 1, 2008 to December 31, 2009 at $97.55 Canadian

per barrel.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Share Capital
At December 31, 2007, the Company has 83,698,042 common shares and 3,758,919 options outstanding. 

As at the date of this MD&A, the Company has 83,698,042 common shares outstanding and 5,054,919 options

outstanding. In February 2008, the Company granted an additional 1,296,000 stock options at an exercise price of

$0.60 per share.

In November and December 2007, the Company issued 9,707,536 flow-through shares for gross proceeds (before

commission and expenses) of $4,174,240. Certain officers, directors and insiders of the Company subscribed for

753,628 flow-through shares for gross proceeds of $324,060. The terms of the share issue require the Company to

renounce to subscribers Canadian Exploration Expenditures in the amount of $4,174,240 to be incurred prior to

December 31, 2008.

In May 2007, the Company issued 275,000 shares at a deemed price of $0.575 per share to acquire producing

properties at Princess/Alderson.

The 3,758,919 options outstanding have a weighted average exercise price of $0.88. At December 31, 2007 2,854,752

options were exercisable at a weighted average price of $1.01. During 2007, the Company issued 995,000 stock

options at a weighted average price of $0.40 to directors, officers and employees.

The following table outlines the common share issues and option exercises during the year:

Common shares

Opening 73,642,173

Issued to acquire property 275,000 

Issued through private placement 9,707,536 

Issued on exercise of warrants

Issued on exercise of options 73,333 

Shares issued 10,055,869  

Closing 83,698,042  

Capital Expenditures

($CDN) Total

Corporate, property and land acquisitions 1,767,961 

Seismic 999,408 

Drilling and completions 13,349,402 

Production equipment and facilities 4,586,233 

Other 1,749,792  

Total capital expenditures 22,452,796  

During 2007, the Company participated in the drilling of 11 gross (8.6 net) wells in Canada, 1 gross (.02 net) well in the

US and 2 (0.8 net) wells in Egypt. Capital additions totaled $22,452,794 of which $20,823,714 were cash additions. The

Company issued 275,000 shares to acquire a property in one transaction and in another, assumed asset retirement

obligations on the property. In June 2007, the Company sold its interest in the Tower Creek property for $15,491,355.

he proceeds were applied to reduce bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

In conformance with the Canadian Securities Administrators Multilateral Instrument 52-109, the Company has filed

certificates signed by the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer that, among other things, deal with

the matter of disclosure controls and procedures.

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer resigned in July 2007. A Chief Financial Officer was appointed in March 2008.

As an interim measure, the board, the CEO and the Controller assumed additional duties and responsibilities to

ensure that the controls and procedures in place are still effective and functioning as designed and intended. In

addition, the Company has utilized the services of consultants, qualified in financial reporting and the preparation

of financial statements, to aid in the quarterly and year-end reporting requirements. 

DISCLOSURE CONTROL RISKS

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the disclosure controls

and procedures as at December 31, 2007 and, based on that evaluation, believe them to be effective given the size

and nature of the Company’s operations. All control systems by their nature have inherent limitations and, therefore,

Arsenal’s disclosure controls and procedures are believed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that: 

• the communications by the Company with the public are timely, factual and accurate and broadly disseminated

in accordance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements; 

• non-publicly disclosed information remains confidential; and 

• trading of the Company’s securities by directors, officers and employees remains in compliance with applicable

securities laws. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have supervised the design of internal controls over

financial reporting and these controls were in place as at December 31, 2007. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief

Financial Officer believe the internal controls, including compensating controls to overcome the lack of certain

segregation of duties, and reliance on specialists for complex, non-routine transactions, are designed appropriately

given the nature and size of the Company’s operations, and that a material deficiency in design does not exist.

Because of their inherent limitations, internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements, errors or fraud. Control systems, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only

reasonable, not absolute assurance that the objectives of the control systems are met.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal

The Company is involved in various legal claims associated with the normal course of operations. The Company is

required to determine whether a contingent loss is probable and whether that loss can be reasonably estimated.

When the loss has satisfied both criteria it is charged to net income. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Egyptian Concession

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Quadra Egypt Ltd. entered into a concession agreement with the Egyptian

government in 2004. In 2007, the Company participated in the drilling of two wells and is required to drill an

additional well in 2009 at an estimated cost to the Company of $1,000,000. If a well is not drilled, the Company will

lose its interest in the concession. 

Flow-through shares

Pursuant to a flow-through share financing in late 2007, the Company committed to spend $4,174,240 on qualifying

expenditures by December 31, 2008. As at December 31, 2007, the Company has expended approximately $682,043

leaving $3,492,197 to be incurred prior to December 31, 2008.

Letter of Credit

During the second quarter of 2006, Arsenal provided a letter of credit to the Egyptian government for USD $1.6

million. The letter of credit is to be held until April 10, 2010, or until certain performance measures are achieved by

Arsenal and its partners. Arsenal has obtained a Performance Security Guarantee (“PSG”) from the Canadian

government which guarantees Arsenal against the call of the bond by the Egyptian government. There is no impact

to the existing credit facility of Arsenal from providing the letter of credit due to the PSG, however the Company

incurred approximately $50,000 in stamping fees to obtain the PSG.

Office Lease

The Company leases its office premises through an arrangement deemed to be an operating lease for accounting

purposes. As such, Arsenal is not required to record its lease obligation as a liability nor does it record its leased

premises as an asset. The estimated operating lease commitments relating to leased office premises for the next

five years are as follows: 

($CDN)

2007 145,000 

2008 150,000 

2009 160,000 

2010 165,000 

2011 145,000  

RISK MANAGEMENT

Commodity price risk

Commodity price risk is defined as fluctuations in crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquid prices. The Company

uses derivative instruments as part of its risk management approach to manage commodity price fluctuations and

stabilize cash flows available for future development programs. The Company does not enter into derivative

contracts for speculative purposes. The Company did not make use of any derivative contracts in 2007. During 2006,

the Company was a party to one forward contract fixing the price of sales on 180 bbl per day at $46.93.  This forward

contact secured a portion of the purchase of the assets acquired in North Dakota, and satisfied requirements set out

by our lending institution. The Company received a prepayment on the contract equal to an incremental $5.59 per

barrel, which was recognized as revenue based on deliveries over the life of the contract. The forward contract

expired in August 2006.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Production risk

Production risk relates to the Company’s ability to produce, process and transport crude oil and natural gas. To

manage this risk to an acceptable level, the Company performs regular and proactive maintenance on its wells,

facilities and pipelines. The Company operates approximately 80% of its production, which affords greater control

over operations. 

Natural decline and reserve replacement risk

Natural decline risk relates to the Company’s ability to replace reserves in excess of annual production declines

through development activities such as drilling, well completions, well workovers and other capital activities. The

Company manages its business using a portfolio approach whereby capital is allocated across a number of areas so

that significant capital is not risked on any one activity. Capital is spent only after strict economic criteria for

production and reserve additions are assessed. 

The Company’s reserves are evaluated on an annual basis by independent third-party consultants reporting to the

Company’s Reserves Committee of the Board of Directors. The Company’s approach is to invest in mature, long-life

properties with a high proved producing component combined with low-risk development opportunities where the

reserve risk is generally lower and cash flows are more stable and predictable. The Company will engage in wildcat

exploration activities only after considerable due diligence has been completed on the play, including geological,

geophysical and total capital required. 

Environmental health and safety risk

Environment, health and safety risks relate primarily to field operations associated with oil and gas assets. To mitigate

this risk, a preventative environmental, health and safety program is in place as well as operational loss insurance

coverage. Arsenal employees and contractors adhere to the Company’s environment, health and safety program, which

is routinely reviewed and updated to ensure that the Company operates in a manner consistent with best practices in

the industry. The Board of Directors is actively involved in the risk assessment and risk mitigation process.

Regulation, tax and royalty risk

Regulation, tax and royalty risk relates to changing government royalty regulations, income tax laws and incentive

programs impacting the Company’s financial and operating results. Management, with the assistance of legal and

accounting professionals, stay informed of proposed changes in laws and regulations and proactively respond to and

plan for the effects of these changes.

Capital market risk

The Company’s ability to maintain its financial strength and liquidity is dependent upon its ability to access Canadian

capital markets. If Canadian debt or equity markets were to become less accessible to the Company, it may affect the

ability of Arsenal to continue to replace production.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arsenal Energy Inc., Arsenal Energy USA Inc. and

Quadra Resources Corp., and are collectively referred to as “Arsenal” or “the Company”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue recognition

Revenue associated with the sale of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids owned by the Company are

recognized when title passes from the Company to its customers. 

Property, plant and equipment

The Company uses the full cost method for oil and gas exploration, development and production activities as set out

in CICA Accounting Guideline 16 (“AcG-16”), “Oil and Gas Accounting – Full Cost”. The cost of acquiring oil and natural

gas properties as well as subsequent development costs are capitalized and accumulated in a cost center.

Maintenance and repairs are charged against income, and renewals and enhancements, which extend the economic

life of the property, plant and equipment, are capitalized. Gains and losses are not recognized upon disposition of

oil and natural gas properties unless such a disposition would alter the rate of depletion by at least 20%.

AcG-16 requires that a ceiling test be performed at least annually to assess the carrying value of oil and gas assets.

A cost center is tested for recoverability using undiscounted future cash flows from proved reserves and forward

indexed commodity prices, adjusted for contractual obligations and product quality differentials. A cost center is

written down to its fair value when its carrying value, less the cost of unproved properties, is in excess of the related

undiscounted cash flows. Fair value is estimated using accepted present value techniques that incorporate risk and

uncertainty when determining expected future cash flows. Unproved properties are excluded from the ceiling test

calculation and subject to a separate impairment test. 

Depreciation, depletion and accretion

In accordance with the full cost accounting method, all crude oil and natural gas acquisition, exploration, and

development costs, including asset retirement costs, are accumulated in a cost center. The aggregate of net

capitalized costs and estimated future development costs, less the cost of unproved properties and estimated

salvage value, is amortized using the unit-of-production method based on current period production and estimated

proved oil and gas reserves calculated in accordance with National Instrument 51-101.

Oil and gas reserves

The Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 51-101 (NI 51-101) defines proved oil and gas reserves as

estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas liquids, oil condensate, and natural gas that geological and engineering

data demonstrate with reasonable certainly can be recovered in future years from known reservoirs under existing

economic and operating conditions. Proved reserves are those reserves that can be estimated with a high degree of

certainty to be recoverable. The level of certainty should result in at least a 90% probability that the quantities

ultimately recovered will be equal to, or in excess of the estimated proved reserves. The level of certainty for proved

plus probable should result in at least a 50% probability that the quantities actually recovered will be equal to, or

exceed, the sum of the estimated proved plus probable reserves.

The estimation of reserves is a subjective process. Forecasts are based on engineering data, projected future rates

of production, estimated commodity prices, and consider the timing of future expenditures. Arsenal expects reserve

estimates to be revised based on the results of future drilling activity, testing, production levels, and economics of

recovery based on cash flow forecasts. 

30 ARSENAL ENERGY INC.            2007 ANNUAL REPORT

A.ARS.ANNU.100.4C.10.qxd  4/16/08  1:10 PM  Page 30



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income taxes

Arsenal uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes and records future income taxes for the effect of

any difference between the accounting and income tax basis of an asset or liability, using the substantively enacted

income tax rates. Accumulated future income tax balances are adjusted to reflect changes in income tax rates that

are substantively enacted during the period with the adjustment recognized in net income. The determination of

Arsenal’s income and other tax liabilities are subject to audit and potential reassessment after the lapse of

considerable time. Accordingly, actual income tax liabilities or expenses may differ from estimates.

Goodwill

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the fair value

of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business. Goodwill is stated at cost and is not amortized.

The goodwill balance is assessed for impairment each year end or more frequently if events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. The test for impairment is conducted by comparing the book

value to the fair value of the reporting entity. Impairment is charged to income in the period it occurs. 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Financial Instruments

In December 2006, the AcSB issued two new sections in relation to financial instruments: Section 3862, Financial

Instruments – Disclosures, and Section 3863, Financial Instruments – Presentation, which will replace 3861 – Financial

Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation. The new disclosure standard increases the Company’s disclosure

regarding the risks associated with financial instruments and how these risks are managed and will require

additional disclosure as of January 1, 2008.

Capital Disclosures

As of January 1, 2008, the Company will be required to adopt CICA Handbook Section 1535 “Capital Disclosures”, which

will require the Company to disclose its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.

Goodwill

As of January 1, 2008, the Company will be required to adopt CICA Handbook Section 3064 “Goodwill and Intangible

Assets”, which defines the criteria for the recognition of intangible assets.

International Financial Reporting Standards

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, the primary source for accounting standards in Canada, proposes

to implement International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as part of Canadian GAAP. Such standards have

been established cooperatively by many countries and have widespread application to financial reporting by

businesses throughout the world. The adoption of IFRS in Canada will result in major changes to GAAP in Canada and

to financial reporting practices by businesses throughout the world. The adoption of IFRS in Canada will result in

major changes to GAAP in Canada and to the financial reporting practices of the Company. The effective date of

introduction for IFRS is proposed for Companies whose year ends begin after December 31, 2010, which will require

the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at January 1, 2010 to be IFRS compliant. This means that the Company

must plan its conversion before the proposed implementation date. The application of IFRS to the oil and gas industry

in Canada requires considerable clarification so the effect on the Company’s accounting policies and reporting

standards and practices is not presently determinable.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT

Management, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, has prepared the accompanying

consolidated financial statements of Arsenal Energy Inc. (the ”Company”). Financial and operating information

presented throughout this report is consistent with that shown in the consolidated financial statements.

Management is responsible for the integrity of the financial information. Internal control systems are designed and

maintained to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and to

produce reliable accounting records for financial reporting purposes.

KPMG LLP was appointed by the Company's shareholders to conduct an audit of the consolidated financial statements

so as to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. Their examination included a review and

evaluation of the Company’s internal control systems and included such test and procedures, as they considered

necessary, to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with

Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting

and internal control. The Board exercises this responsibility through the Audit Committee, with assistance from the

Reserve Committee regarding the annual evaluation of our petroleum and natural gas reserves. The Audit Committee

meets regularly with management and the independent auditors to ensure that management's responsibilities are

properly discharged, to review the consolidated financial statements and recommend that the consolidated financial

statements be presented to the Board of Directors for approval. The Audit Committee also considers the independence

of the external auditors and reviews their fees. The external auditors have access to the Audit Committee without the

presence of management.

Tony van Winkoop
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 24, 2008

William Hews
Chairman Audit Committee
March 24, 2008
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AUDITOR’S REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Arsenal Energy Inc. (the “Company”) as at December 31, 2007

and 2006 and the consolidated statements of operations and deficit and cash flows for the years then ended. These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free

of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position

of the Company as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the results of its operations and its cash flow for the years

then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada
March 24, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at December 31 2007 2006

ASSETS
Current assets
Accounts Receivable $  3,789,284 $  7,282,175

Reclamation bonds (note 10) 173,577 201,890

Property, plant and equipment (note 7) 61,134,541 83,186,918

Goodwill (note 9) - 4,791,561

$  65,097,402 $  95,462,544

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $  10,510,147 $  4,643,907

Revolving demand loan (note 12) 10,670,897 21,822,985

21,181,044 26,466,892

Convertible debentures (note 18) 3,340,040 3,263,473

Asset retirement obligations (note 14) 3,697,721 2,638,520

Future income taxes (note 13) 3,621,900 8,548,207

31,840,705 40,917,092

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common shares (note 15) 81,676,603 80,291,169 

Share purchase warrants (note 16) - 303,731

Contributed surplus (note 17b) 3,430,965 2,422,423

Common share conversion rights (note 18) 370,000 370,000

Deficit (52,220,871) (28,841,871)

33,256,697 54,545,452

$  65,097,402 $  95,462,544

Future operations (note 2)

Segmented information (note 20)

Commitments and contingencies (note 12 and 21)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

R. Neil MacKay
Director
March 24, 2008

William Hews
Director
March 24, 2008
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND DEFICIT

For the year ended December 31 2007 2006

REVENUE
Oil and gas $  32,389,051 $  30,820,734

Royalties expense, net of Alberta Royalty Tax Credit (7,096,807) (6,885,863)

25,292,244 23,934,871

EXPENSES
Operating 13,897,532 11,088,038

General and administrative 4,543,547 3,283,768

Finance charges 2,941,047 1,123,465

Interest on long-term debt 278,400 208,256

Foreign exchange loss (gain) (613,059) 244,280

Convertible debenture accretion 76,567 81,000

Depletion, depreciation and accretion 16,756,827 13,859,196

Property, plant and equipment impairment (note 7) 12,465,675 13,811,366

Goodwill impairment (note 9) 4,791,561 13,655,782

Stock-based compensation (note 17a) 704,811 1,398,395

55,842,908 58,753,546

Loss before income taxes (30,550,664) (34,818,675)

Income taxes (note 13)

Current income taxes 272,262 126,758

Future income tax reduction (7,443,926) (7,889,011)

(7,171,664) (7,762,253)

Net loss for the year (23,379,000) (27,056,421)

Deficit - beginning of year (28,841,871) (1,785,450)

Deficit - end of year $  (52,220,871) $  (28,841,871)

Loss per share – basic and diluted (note 15f) $ (0.31) $  (0.44)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

For the year ended December 31 2007 2006

Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:

Net loss for the year $  (23,379,000) $  (27,056,421)

Add (subtract) items not affecting cash:

Non-cash interest expense 1,300,000 –

Depletion, depreciation and accretion 16,756,827 13,859,196

Property, plant and equipment impairment 12,465,675 13,811,366

Goodwill impairment 4,791,561 13,655,782

Current income taxes (383,000) –

Future income tax reduction (7,443,926) (7,889,011)

Convertible debenture accretion 76,567 81,000

Stock-based compensation 704,811 1,398,395

Deferred revenue – (287,533)

Unrealized foreign exchange loss (613,059) 244,280

Asset retirement obligations settled (321,190) –

3,955,266 7,817,054

Net change in non-cash working capital items (note 19) 8,138,366 (3,532,168)

4,284,886 12,093,632 4,284,886

Financing:
Issue of shares for cash 4,174,240 8,060,963

Issue of shares for cash on exercise of warrants – 206,501

Issue of shares for cash on exercise of stock options 14,667 170,110

Share issue expenses (443,855) (1,338,209)

Revolving demand loan (11,152,088) 15,626,790

Net change in non-cash working capital - (note 19) 55,000 –

(7,352,036) 22,726,155

Investments:
Proceeds on disposition 15,491,355 –

Additions to property and equipment (20,823,716) (24,010,422)

Purchase of property (575,000) –

Net change in non-cash working capital (note 19) 1,165,765 (3,000,618)

(4,741,596) (27,011,040)

Change in cash during the year - -

Cash - beginning of year - -

Cash - end of year - -

Supplemental information (note 19)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

Arsenal Energy Inc. (“Arsenal or the Company”) is incorporated under the laws of the province of Alberta. The

principal business of the Company is the exploration for, exploitation, development, and production of oil and natural

gas reserves in Canada, the United States, and Egypt.  Each country in which Arsenal conducts business has been

treated as an identifiable reporting segment, refer to note 19 for additional disclosures.  All amounts are reported in

Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted.

2. FUTURE OPERATIONS:

The future operations of the Company is dependant on its ability to successfully explore, develop, and produce

economically viable reserves and market petroleum products from its properties, raise capital to support its

activities and meet its obligations, and receiving the continued financial support from its lenders. As at December

31, 2007, the Company has a working capital deficiency of $17.4 million, has incurred significant losses to date, is in

breach of two of its bank covenants on its credit facility, and requires significant additional capital to continue its

activities and discharge its commitments.

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Company will be able to discharge its

obligations and realize its assets in the normal course of business at the values at which they are carried in these

financial statements, and that the Company will be able to continue its business activities.

Management believes that the going concern assumption is appropriate for these financial statements. If this

assumption were not appropriate, adjustments to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities, revenues and

expenses and the balance sheet classifications used may be necessary.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arsenal and its subsidiaries. These accounts are

referred to collectively as “Arsenal” or “the Company”. Investments are accounted for using the proportionate

consolidation method, whereby the Company’s proportionate share of revenues, expenses, assets, and liabilities are

included in the accounts. These consolidated financial statements are stated in Canadian dollars and have been

prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP”). The preparation of

financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires the Company's management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. In the opinion of management, these financial

statements have been prepared within reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the significant

accounting policies summarized below.

a) Revenue recognition:

Revenue associated with the sale of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids owned by the Company are

recognized when title passes from the Company to its customers.  

ARSENAL ENERGY INC.            2007 ANNUAL REPORT 37

A.ARS.ANNU.100.4C.10.qxd  4/16/08  1:10 PM  Page 37



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

b) Property, plant and equipment:

Arsenal uses the full cost accounting method for oil and gas exploration, development, and production 

activities. The cost of acquiring oil and natural gas properties as well as subsequent development costs are

capitalized and accumulated in each country. Maintenance and repairs are charged against income, and

renewals and enhancements, which extend the economic life of the property, plant and equipment, are

capitalized. Gains and losses are not recognized upon disposition of oil and natural gas properties unless such

a disposition would alter the rate of depletion by at least 20%. All other equipment is carried at the lesser of

depreciated cost and fair value.

c) Ceiling test:

A ceiling test is performed at least annually to assess the carrying value of oil and gas assets. A cost center is

defined on a country by country basis, and is tested for recoverability using undiscounted future cash flows

from proved reserves and forward indexed commodity prices, adjusted for contractual obligations and product

quality differentials. A cost center is written down to its fair value when its carrying value, less the cost of

unproved properties, is in excess of the related undiscounted cash flows. Fair value is estimated using accepted

present value techniques that incorporate risk and uncertainty when determining expected future cash flows.

Unproved properties are excluded from the ceiling test calculation and subject to a separate impairment test.

d) Depletion, depreciation and accretion:

In accordance with the full cost accounting method, all crude oil and natural gas acquisition, exploration, and

development costs, including asset retirement costs, are accumulated in a cost center. The aggregate of net

capitalized costs and estimated future development costs, less the cost of unproved properties and estimated

salvage value, is amortized using the unit-of-production method based on current period production and

estimated net proved oil and gas as determined by independent engineers. All other equipment is depreciated

over the estimated useful life of the respective assets.

e) Oil and gas reserves:

Oil and gas reserves are based on engineering data, projected future rates of production, estimated commodity

prices, and consider the timing of future expenditures. Arsenal expects reserve estimates to be revised based

on the results of future drilling activity, testing, production levels, and economics of recovery based on cash

flow forecasts.

f) Income taxes:

Arsenal uses the assets and liability method of accounting for income taxes and records future income taxes

for the effect of any difference between the accounting and income tax basis of an asset or liability, using the

substantively enacted income tax rates. Accumulated future income tax balances are adjusted to reflect

changes in income tax rates that are substantively enacted during the period with the adjustment recognized

in net income. Future tax assets are recorded only to the extent it is more likely than not that these assets will

be realized.  The determination of Arsenal’s income and other tax liabilities are subject to audit and potential

reassessment after the lapse of considerable time. Accordingly, actual income tax liabilities or recoveries may

differ from estimates.

38 ARSENAL ENERGY INC.            2007 ANNUAL REPORT

A.ARS.ANNU.100.4C.10.qxd  4/16/08  1:10 PM  Page 38



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g) Goodwill:

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the fair

value of the net identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business. Net identifiable liabilities acquired

include an estimate of future income taxes. Goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment. Impairment is

charged to net income in the period in which it occurs.  

The test for impairment is the comparison of the book value of net assets (assets less liabilities) to the fair value

of the business unit. If the fair value of the business unit is less than its book value, the impairment loss is

measured by allocating the fair value of the business unit to the identifiable assets and liabilities at their fair

values. The excess of the business unit's fair value over the identifiable net assets is the implied fair value of

goodwill. If this amount is less than the book value of goodwill, the difference is the impairment amount.  Refer

to note 9 for additional information.

h) Per share amounts:

Basic per share amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the

year. Weighted average number of shares is determined by relating the portion of time within the reporting

period that common shares have been outstanding to the total time in that period.

The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect of stock options and other dilutive

instruments. Under the treasury stock method, only dilutive instruments where the market price exceeds the

exercise price impact the diluted calculations.

i) Measurement uncertainty:

The timely preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting

principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions and use judgment regarding assets,

liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of

the date of the financial statements. Accordingly, actual results may differ from estimated amounts as future

confirming events occur.

Amounts recorded for depreciation, depletion, and amortization, asset retirement costs and obligations, and

amounts used for ceiling test and impairment calculations are based on estimates of oil and natural gas

reserves and future costs required to develop those reserves. By their nature, these estimates are subject to

measurement uncertainty, and the impact on the financial statements of future periods could be material.

j) Foreign currency translation:

The Company translates foreign currency denominated transactions and the financial statements of integrated

foreign operations using the temporal method. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end rates.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at rates in effect on the dates of the transactions. Income

and expenses are translated at average rates in effect during the year with the exception of amortization, which

is translated at historic rates. Exchange gains and losses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities are

reflected in income immediately.
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k) Flow-through shares:

Flow-through shares are issued at a fixed price and the proceeds are used to fund qualifying exploration and

development expenditures within a defined period. The qualifying expenditure deductions funded by flow-

through arrangements are renounced to investors in accordance with Canadian tax legislation. To recognize the

foregone tax benefits of flow-through shares, share capital is reduced and a future income tax liability is

recorded for the estimated future tax cost of the renounced expenditures, when the expenditures are

renounced.

l) Asset retirement obligations:

The Company recognizes the fair value of an asset retirement obligation as a liability at the time it incurs a legal

obligation for the future abandonment and reclamation costs associated with its petroleum and natural gas

operations. Asset retirement obligations are initially measured at their fair value and subsequently adjusted to

reflect the passage of time (accretion) and any changes to the estimated cash flows underlying the obligation.

The associated asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of property, plant and equipment and amortized to

earnings using the unit of production method over estimated proved reserves consistent with the depletion and

depreciation of the underlying asset. 

m) Financial instruments:

The Company uses financial instruments for non-trading purposes to manage fluctuations in commodity prices.

All unrealized derivative financial instruments that either do not qualify as hedges, or are not designated as

hedges, are recorded as a derivative asset or a derivative liability on the consolidated balance sheet with any

changes in fair value during the period recognized in income.

4. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The Company has adopted new accounting standards concerning financial instruments: “Accounting Changes,”

“Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement,” “Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement,”

“Hedges” and “Comprehensive Income.” These standards require prospective application and became effective

January 1, 2007. The Company applied the new accounting standards at the beginning of its current fiscal year. The

adoption of these standards has had no impact on the Company‘s earnings or cash flows.

Accounting Changes
The accounting changes standard has been revised for changes in accounting policy, estimates or errors. Voluntary

changes in accounting policy are allowed only when they result in financial statements that provide reliable and

more relevant information and are to be applied retroactively, unless a retroactive change is impracticable. Changes

in estimates are to be recorded prospectively and prior period errors are to be corrected retrospectively. In addition,

the revised standards call for enhanced disclosures regarding the effects of changes in accounting policies,

estimates, and errors on the financial statements.

Financial Instruments – Recognition and Measurement
The financial instruments standard establishes the recognition and measurement criteria for financial assets,

financial liabilities and derivatives. All financial instruments are required to be measured at fair value on initial

recognition of the instrument, except for certain related party transactions. Measurement in subsequent periods
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depends on whether the financial instrument has been classified as “held-for trading,” “available-for-sale,” “held-to-

maturity,” “loans and receivables” or “other financial liabilities” as defined by the standard.

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as “held-for-trading” are measured at fair value, with changes in

those fair values recognized in net earnings. Financial assets classified as “available-for-sale” are measured at fair

value, with changes in those fair values recognized in other comprehensive income. Financial assets classified as

“held-to-maturity,” “loans and receivables” and “other financial liabilities” are measured at amortized cost using the

effective interest method of amortization. The methods used by the Company in determining fair value of financial

instruments are unchanged as a result of implementing the new standard.

Cash and cash equivalents are designated as “held-for-trading” and are measured at carrying value, which

approximates fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Accounts receivable are designed as “loans

and receivables.” Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt are designated as “other liabilities.”

Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation
The financial instruments standard establishes the disclosure and presentation financial instruments and non-

financial derivatives. The standard addresses accounting policy disclosures involving the criteria for designating as

“held-for-trading” and those financial instruments that are not required to be classified as “held-for-trading.” In

addition, new disclosure requirements include offsetting, and the format, location and classes of financial

instruments, along with the terms and conditions, interest rate and credit risk.

Comprehensive Income
The new standards introduce comprehensive income, which consists of net earnings and other comprehensive

income (“OCI”). The cumulative changes in OCI are included in the accumulated OCI, which is presented as a new

category within shareholders‘ equity in the balance sheet. The adoption of the comprehensive income standard has

been made in accordance with its transitional provisions. A statement of comprehensive income has not been

included in these financial statements as the Company has no adjustments that are required to be reported in OCI.

Hedges
The new standard specifies the circumstances under which hedge accounting is permissible and how hedge

accounting may be performed. The Company has no hedges and therefore the adoption of this new accounting policy

had no impact on the financial statements.

Pending Accounting Pronouncements

Financial Instruments – Disclosures and Presentation
In December 2006, the Accounting Standards Board (“AsSB”) issued new standards relating to “Financial Instruments

– Disclosures” and “Financial Instruments – Presentation”, which replaces the current standard “Financial

Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”. The new standard outlines the disclosure requirements for financial

instruments and non-financial derivatives. This guidance prescribes an increased importance on risk disclosures

associated with recognized and unrecognized financial instruments and how such risks are managed. Specifically, it
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requires disclosure of the significance of financial instruments for a company’s financial position. In addition, the

guidance outlines revised requirements for the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information regarding

exposure to risks arising from financial instruments.

The presentation requirements are relative unchanged and are effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. 

The Company is currently determining the impact of these additional disclosure requirements.

Capital Disclosures
New standards were issued for “Capital Disclosures” requiring disclosures regarding an entity’s objectives, policies,

and processes for managing capital. These disclosures include a description of what the Company manages as

capital, the nature of externally imposed capital requirements, how the requirements are incorporated into the

Company’s management of capital, whether the requirements have been complied with, or consequences of non-

compliance and an explanation of how the Company is meeting its objectives for managing capital. In addition,

quantitative data about capital and whether the Company has complied with all capital requirements are also

required. The standard is effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. The Company is currently determining the

impact of these additional disclosure requirements.

5. ACQUISITION:

On March 14, 2006 Arsenal acquired all of the issued and outstanding securities of Tiverton Petroleums Ltd.

(“Tiverton”). The purchase method of accounting was used for both business combinations and the allocation of the

purchase price and consideration is as follows:

Net assets acquired at assigned values:
Working capital deficiency $  (2,112,791)

Property, plant and equipment 42,740,000

Goodwill 13,572,428

Bank debt (3,700,000)

Convertible debentures (3,182,473)

Asset retirement obligation (1,095,000)

Future income taxes (6,937,798)

Common share conversion rights (370,000)

Net assets acquired 38,914,366

Financed by:

Shares issued 38,314,366

Acquisition costs 600,000 

Purchase price $  38,914,366
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6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

The Company issued shares in a prior year to a former officer and director of the Company, the proceeds of which

will be recognized if and when received. At December 31, 2007, $225,000 (December 31, 2006 – $225,000) of these

shares are held in escrow and recorded against share capital.

An officer of the Company is a partner in a law firm that provides legal services to the Company. In 2007, the

Company incurred a total of $265,837 (2006 - $279,361) for legal fees and disbursements. December 31, 2007 accounts

payable and accrued liabilities include $142,170 (2006 - $50,000) relating to these payments.

In December 2007, various officers and directors participated in the flow-through share offering of the Company on

the same terms as the other subscribers (see note 15c).

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

2007 2006 

Petroleum and natural gas properties $  87,712,152 $  94,898,826

Production equipment 11,912,419 7,014,638

99,624,571 102,003,563

Office furniture, equipment, and other 488,292 459,287

100,112,863 102,462,850

Accumulated depletion and depreciation (38,978,322) (19,275,932)

$  61,134,541 $  83,186,918

In Canada and the United States, all costs of unproved properties, net of any associated revenues, have been

capitalized, and depleted during 2007 and 2006. Future development costs totaling $1,400,000 in Canada and

$1,276,800 in the U.S. were included in the depletion calculation for the year ended December 31, 2007.

During 2007, the Company recorded an impairment to its Egyptian property in an amount totaling $9,216,387. These

costs relate to land acquisition costs, evaluation costs, and drilling activities completed during the period.

In December 2007, the Company purchased certain assets for cash consideration of $575,000 and the assumption of

certain asset retirement obligations estimated at $776,000.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, Arsenal capitalized general and administrative expenses of $689,002 

(2006 – $564,723).

8. CEILING TEST:

On December 31, 2007 Arsenal completed a ceiling test to assess if the property, plant and equipment costs would be

recoverable by comparing the fair value of the cost centre to the carrying amount. The prices used in the ceiling test

evaluation of Arsenal’s natural gas, crude oil, and natural gas liquids reserves at December 31, 2007 were as follows:
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Heavy Oil NYMEX Gas WTI Oil AECO Gas U.S.$/CAD$
Year 12° Hardisty ($U.S./mcf) ($U.S./bbl) (CDN$/mmbtu) Exchange Rates

2008 50.65 7.80 85.00 6.90 0.98

2009 49.75 8.40 81.60 7.75 0.95

2010 52.75 8.60 81.15 8.10 0.92

2011 54.00 8.75 79.60 8.50 0.90

2012 52.15 8.95 77.95 8.65 0.90

2013 51.35 9.40 77.30 9.10 0.90

2014 53.05 9.55 78.85 9.30 0.90

2015 54.80 9.75 80.40 9.50 0.90

2016 55.50 9.95 82.00 9.65 0.90

2017 56.60 10.15 83.65 9.85 0.90

2018 58.45 10.35 85.35 10.05 0.90

Thereafter 3% +2% +2% +2% 0.90

9. GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT: 

During 2007, the Company compared the fair value of goodwill to the carrying amount of goodwill. As a result of this

test, the Company recorded an impairment to goodwill of $4,791,561 calculated as the excess of the Company’s fair

value over the identifiable net assets for its Canadian reporting unit.

In 2006, the Company recorded an impairment to goodwill of $13,655,782 calculated as the excess of the Company’s

fair value over the identifiable net assets for its Canadian reporting unit.

10. RECLAMATION BONDS:

At December 31, 2007 the Company had $173,577 (2006 – $201,890) on deposit with the United States Federal and State

governments for future site reclamation activities. These funds will be returned when the Company abandons and

reclaims well sites in the United States.

11. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS: 

a) Commodity price risk management:

The Company had one crude oil sales contract fixing the price of future production of 180 barrels per day at

CDN$46.93 per barrel. The Company received a prepayment on the contract equal to an incremental $5.59 per

barrel which was recognized as revenue based on deliveries over the life of the contract.  During 2006, $161,645

was recognized as revenue (2005 – $263,346). The forward contract expired on August 31, 2006.

b) Fair value of financial instruments:

The Company’s exposure under its financial instruments is limited to financial assets and liabilities, all of which

are included in these financial statements. The fair values of financial assets, liabilities, and convertible

debentures that are included in the balance sheet approximate their carrying amounts.

c) Credit risk:

A substantial portion of the Company’s accounts receivable are with customers and joint venture partners in the

oil and gas industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks. Purchasers of the Company’s natural gas,

crude oil and natural gas liquids are subject to an internal credit review to minimize the risk of non-payment.
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d) Foreign currency exchange risk:

The Company is exposed to foreign currency fluctuations as crude oil and natural gas prices received are

referenced to U.S. dollar denominated prices, and revenues earned and costs incurred in the United States and

Egypt are denominated in U.S. dollars.

e) Interest rate risk:

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that bank debt is at a floating rate of interest.

12. REVOLVING DEMAND LOAN: 

At December 31, 2007, the Company has available a demand operating loan in the amount of $17,250,000. The facility

can be utilized in either Canadian or U.S. dollars, bears interest at Canadian or U.S. bank prime plus 0.25%, increasing

to Canadian or U.S. bank prime rate plus 0.40% if net debt to trailing cash flow (cash flow for the last quarter

annualized) exceeds 1.25:1. The Company was in violation of this covenant as well as its debt to working capital

covenant as at December 31, 2007 and consequently, the lender has the right to demand repayment of the outstanding

amount. The lender has not exercised its right as a result of this covenant violation. The facility is secured by a fixed

and floating charge debenture providing a fixed charge over all present and after acquired petroleum and natural gas

interests and a floating charge over all lands and a continuing guarantee from the Company’s U.S. subsidiary in the

form of a Mortgage Security Agreement and Letter of Undertaking limited to $8,000,000. 

13. INCOME TAXES:

The tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the combined Canadian federal and provincial

income tax statutory rates to loss before income taxes as follows:

2007 2006 

Loss before income taxes $  (30,550,664) $  (34,818,675)

Combined federal and provincial tax rate 34.59% 35.39%

Expected tax provision (recovery) (10,567,475) (12,322,329)

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:

Non-deductible crown charges - 510,371

Resource allowance - (246,495)

Stock-based compensation 243,783 494,892

Change in tax rates 2,484,153 (1,085,012)

Goodwill impairment 1,657,323 4,834,147

Income tax adjustments (684,274) -

Flow through share adjustments (235,055) -

Other (70,119) 52,173

Taxes $  (7,171,664) $  (7,762,253)

ARSENAL ENERGY INC.            2007 ANNUAL REPORT 45

A.ARS.ANNU.100.4C.10.qxd  4/16/08  1:10 PM  Page 45



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The net future income tax liability is comprised of the tax effect of temporary differences as follows:

2007 2006 

Future tax liability:

Property, plant and equipment $  8,974,708 $  10,249,310

Share issue costs (1,000,992) (752,087)

Asset retirement obligations (1,069,011) (850,395)

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) 119,263 (86,451)

Non-capital losses (3,391,087) -

Other (10,981) (12,169)

Net future tax liability $  3,621,900 $  8,548,207

The Company has non-capital losses of approximately $10.5 million as at December 31, 2007 which commence
expiry in 2008.

14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS:

The following table presents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amount of the

obligation associated with the retirement of oil and gas properties:

Changes to the asset retirement obligations were as follows:

2007 2006 

Asset retirement obligations, beginning of year $  2,638,520 $  1,295,500

Liabilities settled (321,190) -

Liabilities incurred or acquired 1,251,400 1,223,100

Change in estimate (76,559) 11,920

Accretion expense 205,550 108,000

Asset retirement obligations, end of year $  3,697,721 $  2,638,520

The total undiscounted amount of estimated cash flows required to settle the obligation is $8,625,648 (2006 -

$7,197,644), which has been discounted using a credit-adjusted risk free rate of 8.0% (2006 – 8.0%) and an inflation

factor of 1.5% (2006 – 1.5%). The majority of these obligations will be incurred between 2014 and 2025; however

certain obligations are not anticipated to be incurred until 2035.

15. SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY:

a) Authorized:

Unlimited number of common shares

Unlimited number of non-voting preferred shares, issuable in series
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b) Issued:

2007 2006

Number            Amount Number       Amount

Common shares:
Balance, beginning of year 73,642,173 $  80,516,169 42,556,244 $  36,839,809

Issued to acquire Tiverton 23,237,671 38,314,366

Issued to acquire property 275,000 158,000

Issued on exercise of options 73,333 14,667 350,000 206,501

Issued on exercise of warrants – – 170,110 170,110

Issued for cash pursuant to 

private placement of 

flow-through shares 9,707,536 4,174,240 7,328,148 7,960,963

Tax effect of flow-through

shares – (2,660,118) – (2,369,913)

Share issue costs – (443,855) – (1,131,708)

Tax effect of share issue costs – 142,500 – 379,625

Allocated from contributed surplus – – 146,416

Balance, end of year 83,698,042 81,901,603 73,642,173 80,516,169

Shares held in escrow (note e) – (225,000) – (225,000)

Balance 83,698,042 $  81,676,603 73,642,173 $  80,291,169

In May 2007, the Company issued 275,000 common shares at $0.575 to purchase certain producing assets. 

The value of the shares was based on the ten day weighted average trading price of the shares.

c) Flow-through shares:

In November and December 2007, the Company issued 9,707,536 flow-through shares for gross proceeds (before

commission and expenses) of $4,174,240. Certain officers, directors and insiders of the Company subscribed for

753,628 flow-through shares for gross proceeds of $324,060. The terms of the share issue require the Company

to renounce to subscribers Canadian Exploration Expenditures in the amount of $4,174,240 to be incurred prior

to December 31, 2008.

In November 2006, the Company issued 7,328,148 flow-through shares for gross proceeds (before commission

and expenses) of $8,060,963.

d) Exercise of options:

In 2007, 73,333 stock options issued in 2003 at $0.20 were exercised for proceeds of $14,667. No adjustment to

share capital was required as no prior compensation expense had been recognized.

In 2006, 350,000 stock options priced at $0.59 were exercised for proceeds of $206,501. Related prior

compensation expense of $146,416 was also added to share capital. 
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e) Escrowed shares:

The Company issued shares in a prior year to a former officer and director of the Company, the proceeds of

which will be recognized if and when received. At December 31, 2007, $225,000 (December 31, 2006 – $225,000)

of these shares are held in escrow and recorded against share capital.

In 2006, $100,000 was received and 100,000 shares were released from escrow.

f) Per share amounts:

The following table shows the weighted average number of common and diluted shares.

2007 2006 

Basic and diluted:

Loss per share $  (0.31) $  (0.44)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 74,419,541 62,033,289

In calculating the per share amounts for the year ended December 31, 2007, 528,526 stock options and the impact of

the convertible debentures were excluded from the dilution calculation, as they were anti-dilutive. No adjustments

were required to reported earnings in computing diluted per share amounts.

16. WARRANTS:

During 2005, Arsenal issued warrants through a private placement equity issue. The fair value of each warrant is

estimated on the date of issuance using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted

average assumptions:

2007 2006

Number            Amount Number       Amount

Balance, beginning of year 2,031,100 $303,731 2,031,100 $303,731

Agents warrants – – 170,110 –

Warrants exercised – – (170,110) –

Expiry of warrants (2,031,100) (303,731) – –

Balance, end of year – – 2,031,100 $303,731

Warrants issued in 2005 as part of a private placement equity issue entitling the holder to purchase one common

share at $1.00 for each warrant held expired in 2007. The value attributed to the warrants at the time of $303,731 has

been credited to contributed surplus. 

During 2005, the Company’s underwriters and agents exercised their right to an additional 170,110 warrants pursuant

to their respective agency agreements. These warrants were exercised in 2006 with $170,110 being credited to

shareholders’ equity. 
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17. STOCK OPTIONS:

The Company has a stock option plan in which the Company may grant options to its directors, officers, employees

and consultants for up to 10% of its outstanding common shares. Under the plan, the exercise price of each option

granted shall not be less than the market price of the Company’s common shares on the date the option is granted

and the contractual term of each option is not to exceed five years. All options vest over a period as determined by

the board of directors. Stock options are granted periodically throughout the year.

The following table summarizes the status of the Company’s stock option plan as at December 31, 2007 and December

31, 2006 and the changes during the year ended on those dates:

2007 2006

Number of Options Exercise Price Number of Options Exercise Price

Balance, beginning of year 4,527,252 $  1.05 3,592,252 $  0.99

Granted 995,000 0.40 1,535,000 1.10

Exercised (73,333) 0.20 (350,000) 0.59

Forfeited (1,690,000) 1.08 (250,000) 1.13

Balance, end of year 3,758,919 $  0.88 4,527,252 $  1.05

Exercisable 2,854,752 $  1.01 3,170,585 $  1.02

In February 2008, the Company granted 1,296,000 options at an exercise price of $0.60 per share.

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2007:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Range

$0.20 - $0.59 1,468,919 $  0.42 2.25 639,752 $  0.45

0.60-1.35 2,235,000 1.16 2.91 2,160,000 1.17

1.50-2.00 55,000 1.50 2.30 55,000 1.50

Total 3,758,919 $  0.88 2.86 2,854,752 $  1.01

a) Stock-based compensation expense:

Options granted to employees and non-employees are accounted for using the fair value method. The fair value

of stock options granted during 2007 is $328,019 ($0.33 per option) as estimated at the date of grant using the

Black-Scholes option-pricing model with weighted average assumptions for grants as follows:

2007 2006 

Risk free rate 4.5% 4.0%

Expected life 5 years 5 years

Expected volatility 152% 57%

Expected dividend nil nil

Expected forfeitures nil nil

Options
outstanding

Weighted average
exercise price

Weighted average
remaining term

(years) Exercisable
Weighted average

exercise price
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b) Contributed surplus:

The estimated fair value of the options is amortized and credited to contributed surplus over the option vesting

period on a straight line basis. The change in the contributed surplus account is reconciled in the table below:

2007 2006 

Balance, beginning of year $  2,422,423 $  1,170,444

Stock-based compensation expensed 704,811 1,398,395

Stock-based compensation capitalized - -

Reclassification on expiry of warrants 303,731 (146,416)

Balance, end of year $  3,430,965 $  2,422,423

18. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES:

As outlined in note 5, Arsenal completed the corporate acquisition of Tiverton on March 14, 2006. A portion of

Tiverton's capital structure was comprised of unsecured convertible debentures totaling $3,480,000. The convertible

debentures are a debt security with an embedded conversion option and were segregated into a debt and equity

component based on on the respective fair value of each at the date of acquisition. The equity component, calculated

at $370,000 represents the holder‘s conversion right and was included in Shareholders‘ Equity. The remaining balance

was classified as debt and is being accreted over the remaining period to maturity to the face value of the debenture.

The interest accrues on the debentures at 8%, payable semi-annually on June 30th and December 31st of each year.

The debentures will mature on February 15, 2009 unless called for redemption earlier by Arsenal. The debentures are

convertible by the holders at any time prior to maturity into 1,539,170 shares of the Company, representing a

conversion price of $2.26 per Arsenal share.  

The Company can elect to prepay the debenture providing the Company’s shares trade above $2.60 per share for 22

consecutive days. The convertible debentures are a debt security with an embedded conversion option and were

segregated into their debt and equity components based on their respective fair values at the date of acquisition.

The $370,000 equity component represents the holder’s conversion right and is included in shareholders’ equity; the

remaining balance has been classified as debt.  If the holder exercises the conversion right, they will receive accrued

and unpaid interest up to and including the conversion date.

19. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

2007 2006 

Change in non-cash working capital items:

Accounts receivable and prepaids $  3,492,891 $  (2,698,248)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,866,240 (833,920)

9,359,131 3,532,168

Amounts relating to operating activities 8,138,366 (3,532,168)

Amounts relating to investing activities 1,165,765 (3,000,618)

Amounts relating to financing activities 55,000 –

Interest and taxes paid:

Taxes paid $  213,965

Interest paid $  1,238,218 $  1,157,036
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20. SEGMENTED INFORMATION:

A portion of the Company’s assets and revenues are earned in the United States and a portion of the Company’s

assets are located in Egypt, and are monitored as an identifiable reporting segment by management. The remaining

assets and associated revenues are earned in Canada by Arsenal Energy Inc. Business risks and economic indicators

are similar across all geographical regions. 

2007 ($CDN) Canada U.S. Egypt

Oil and gas Revenue 23,109,013 9,280,038 –

Income (loss) before income taxes (16,314,406) 2,886,804 (8,578,690)

Operating income 7,830,903 3,563,809 –

Property, plant, and equipment (note7) 56,653,331 3,985,560 495,650

Capital expenditures (including acquisitions) 18,790,602 640,326 3,021,866

2006 ($CDN) Canada U.S. Egypt

Oil and gas Revenue Canada 22,887,927 7,932,807 –

Income (loss) before income taxes (36,805,698) 1,963,968 23,056

Operating income 9,933,841 2,912,993 –

Property, plant, and equipment (note7) 71,895,599 4,473,556 6,817,763

Capital expenditures (including acquisitions) 65,419,000 13,824 1,457,618

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES: 

a) Egyptian concession:

The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Quadra Egypt Ltd. entered into a concession agreement with the

Egyptian government in 2004. In 2007, the Company participated in the drilling of 2 wells and is required to drill

an additional well in 2009 at an estimated cost to the Company of $1,000,000. If a well is not drilled, the

Company will lose the concession.

b) Flow-through shares:

In connection with the issuance of flow-through shares, the Company incurred a commitment to incur $4,174,210

of eligible expenditures by December 31, 2008. As at December 31, 2007, the Company had $3,492,198 remaining

on its commitment. 

c) Letter of credit:

During the second quarter of 2006, the Company provided a letter of credit to the Egyptian government for

U.S.D$1.6 million. The letter of credit is to be held until April 10, 2010, or until certain performance measures are

achieved by the Company and its partners. The Company has obtained a Performance Security Guarantee

(“PSG”) from the Canadian government which guarantees the Company against the call of the bond by the

Egyptian government. There is no impact to the existing credit facility of the Company from providing the letter

of credit due to the PSG, however the Company incurred approximately $50,000 in stamping fees to obtain the

PSG. As of December 31, 2007, the performance measures have been met.
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d) Office lease:

The Company leases its office premises through an operating lease for accounting purposes. The estimated

operating lease commitments relating to leased office premises for the next five years are as follows: 

($CDN)

2007 145,000

2008 150,000

2009 160,000

2010 165,000

2011 145,000

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENT:

In March 2008, the Company entered into an agreement for the private placement of common shares (“Common

Shares”) at a subscription price of $0.63 per Common Share and Flow-Through Common Shares (“Flow-through

Shares”) at a subscription price of $0.72 per Common Share for total gross proceeds of up to $6,000,000 

(the “Offering”). The offering will consist of a maximum of $4,000,000 of Flow-through Shares, of which $2,000,000

will be on a bought deal basis

The proceeds from the Flow-through Shares will be used to incur Canadian Exploration Expenses which will be

renounced to the subscribers of the Flow-through Shares with an effective date of December 31, 2008. The Company

has until December 31, 2009 to incur the expenditures.

The Offering is expected to close in late March 2008.  
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